
1  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

12 

3 Stratham Planning Board 

4 Meeting Minutes 

5 November 1, 2017 

6 Municipal Center, Selectmen’s Meeting Room 
7 10 Bunker Hill Avenue 
8 Time: 7:00 PM 
9 

10 
11 Members Present: Bob Baskerville, Chairman 

12 Jameson Paine, Vice Chairman 

13 Tom House, Secretary 

14 Mike Houghton, Selectmen’s Representative 

15 David Canada, Member 

16 

17 Members Absent: Robert Roseen, Alternate 

18 Nancy Ober, Alternate 

19 
20 Staff Present: Tavis Austin, Town Planner 
21 
22 
23 1.   Call to Order/Roll Call 

24 
25 The Chairman took roll call. 

26 

27 2.   Review/Approval of Meeting Minutes 
28 

29 a. October 18, 2017 
30 

31 Mr. House made an amendment to Page 2, Line 67, to add the word “asked” to read “Mr. 

32 House asked if…”. Mr. Paine recused himself from voting due to his absence at the 

33 October 18, 2017 meeting.  Mr. Houghton made a motion to accept the meeting minutes 

34 of October 18, 2017 with the correction made by Mr. House.   Motion seconded by Mr. 

35 House.  Motion carried by 4 yes votes and 1 abstaining. 
36 

37 3.   Public Hearing 
38 
39 a.   6-Lot Subdivision Application to create five (5) new building lots at 8 Whittaker Drive, 
40 Stratham NH 03885, Map 19 Lot 68 submitted by Jonathan S. Ring, PE, Jones & Beach 
41 Engineers, Inc., PO Box 219, Stratham, NH 03885. 

42 

43 Mr.  Austin  stated  a  letter  was  received,  included  in  the  binders,  from  Mr.  Hillery,  5 

44 Whittaker Drive. Mr. Baskerville stated the letter from Mr. Hillery stated he is against the 



2  

45 subdivision and lists multiple reasons for his disapproval.   Mr. Baskerville read a letter, 

46 dated October 30, 2017, received from Jonathan Ring. 
47 

48 “On behalf of our client, Robert Sullivan, we respectfully request a continuance of 

49 the pending application for the above referenced parcel from the November 1, 

50 2017 hearing to the November 15, 2017 meeting, and to grant an extension to the 

51 65 day approval clock.  Please contact me if you have any questions.” 
52 

53 Mr. Baskerville gave a brief update, for the public, regarding the subdivision.  Mr. Ring 

54 met with the town engineer, Mr. Austin, and Mr. Deschaine.  The planning board does not 

55 have information regarding what was discussed, what changes are being made, and no new 

56 plans were submitted for review by the planning board.  Mr. Baskerville does not find it 

57 necessary to discuss this application due to the applicant not being in attendance and no 

58 new plans to discuss. Mr. Baskerville stated the applicant requested continuance from 2 

59 weeks to tonight and the plans to be submitted are different, and asked the board whether 

60 the application should be scheduled for 2 weeks from tonight or 4 weeks from tonight.  Mr. 

61 House asked Mr. Austin if Civilworks has received updated drawings to review. Mr. 

62 Austin stated yes, and he would like to make a minor correction to Mr. Baskerville’s 

63 statement. The town engineer has not been involved.   Department of Public Works, the 

64 town administrator, and Mr. Austin met with Mr. Ring and the applicant.  Mr. Austin stated 

65 staff concern is extending it to November 15, 2017, even if there is a submission by 

66 Civilworks  by  tomorrow,  the  odds  of  having  a  response  by  Civilworks  prior  to  the 

67 November 15, 29017 meeting is slim because the changes are unknown. Mr. Houghton 

68 stated there has been a lot of give and take, and back and forth, and he would like to see a 

69 complete  application  which  gives  the  board  the  potential  to  make  a  decision  on  the 

70 application. 
71 

72 Mr. Hillery, 5 Whittaker Drive, asked the question of procedure and at what level is this 

73 submission no longer the same application.  Mr. Baskerville stated while it seems lengthy, 

74 the subdivision on Market/Bittersweet took up to 18 months.  Mr. Hillery stated it is not the 

75 length of time, but the number of changes being made, and at the last meeting the board 

76 questioned when do the changes become a new application. Mr. Baskerville stated a 

77 tremendous amount of subdivision applications have some changes during the process. 

78 Last month the board looked at the application and discussed how much has changed and 

79 decided it did not warrant going to a new application.  This decision may change with the 

80 next set of plans but the board has to wait until the plans are cleaned up and reviewed by the 

81 town engineer, receive staff give comments, and then the board will decide.   Mr. Austin 

82 asked for an opinion from Mr. Deschaine regarding the request for extension and extending 

83 the 65 day approval clock, and whether this authorizes, directly or indirectly, the planning 

84 board  to  pick  a  date  other  than  November  15,  2017  to  continue  the  hearing. Mr. 

85 Baskerville stated if the applicant chooses to come in on November 15, 2017 and demand a 

86 vote from the planning board, they can vote.  Mr. Deschaine stated he is not a lawyer, but in 

87 terms of fairness, if the applicant waived it to November 15, 2017, that is the extent of the 

88 waiver and the board can unilaterally extend that to another date.  Mr. Houghton asked if 

89 the board can continue this application to November 15th on the basis the applicant provide 

90 all necessary paperwork for the town engineer to review.  Mr. Deschaine recommended the 

91 material be provided by a certain date to meet the November 15th meeting, and it will be up 



3  

92 

93 

94 
95 
96 
97 
98 
99 

100 
101 
102 
103 
104 

105 

106 

107 
108 
109 
110 
111 

112 
113 

114 
115 
116 

117 
118 

119 
120 

121 
122 
123 

124 
125 

126 
127 
128 
129 
130 

131 

132 
133 
134 

135 
136 
137 
138 

to the applicant to meet that criteria.  Mr. Austin stated the information would need to be in 

Civilworks possession by Friday, November 3, 2017 to meet that deadline. 

 
Mr. Houghton made a motion to continue the Sullivan Subdivision, 8 Whittaker Drive, 

application to November 15, 2017 with the rehearing contingent upon receipt of all 

necessary documentation and plan review by Civilworks in order for the planning board to 

have the opportunity to review all necessary material prior to moving the application 

forward.  All materials must be received in the planning department by Friday, November 

3, 2017 and a response provided by Civilworks prior to November 15, 2017 in order for 

further consideration by the planning board.   Mr. Paine seconded the motion.   Motion 

carried unanimously. 

 
Mr. Canada asked, for procedural clarification, and whether the applicant has a right to 

postpone last minute with no way of letting the public know before they come out to the 

meeting.  Mr. Austin stated the applicant “requested a continuation to November 15, 2017”, 

they have not demanded or stipulated their request.  It is the planning board’s decision to 

accept  the  request  or  deny  it.    Mr.  Baskerville  stated  most  towns  will  not  deny  a 

continuance as long as the applicant is making progress.  Mr. Houghton stated it is the 

timeliness of the notification and the planning board and public have not been given the 

courtesy of notification.  Mr. Paine asked for clarification that the planning board requires 2 

weeks prior to planning board meetings to provide any materials to Mr. Austin in the 

Planning Department.   Mr. Austin stated the statute is 21 days if it is a new application. 

This application has been accepted and approved as complete and the public hearing has 

been open.  Mr. Austin was asked how quickly the agenda, posted online, can be updated. 

Mr. Austin stated within minutes.  Mr. Baskerville asked if there is a state RSA regarding 

changing agenda’s at the last minute and what is the advance posting time.   Mr. Austin 

stated an agenda must be posted at least 24 hours prior to the meeting date, public hearings 

must be posted a specific amount of days prior.  Mr. Canada asked for clarification that the 

board’s decision to hear the applicant on November 15, 2017 is contingent on the 

information being received by Friday, November 3, 2017.   Mr. Deschaine stated there is 

another statutory provision, which has not been used before, that the planning board can 

apply to the Board of Selectmen for an extension not to exceed 90 days before acting on 

approval or disapproval.   Mr. Austin will send information to Ms. Graves, the contact 

person for abutters regarding the Sullivan Subdivision, in order for Ms. Graves to update 

the abutters on the application hearings. 

 
Mr. Paine made a motion to direct staff to put the applicant on notice that plans and 

materials need to be received in the planning department by Friday, November 3, 2017, and 

failure to satisfy the condition as previously moved would require the applicant to submit a 

letter requesting extension to December 6, 2017 or the planning board will take the 

appropriate action with regards to the application.  Mr. House seconded the motion.  Motion 

carried unanimously. 

 
4.   Public Meeting 

 
The  board  discussed  the  timeliness  in  which  the  board  receives  information  is  not  an 

appropriate amount of time for review. Mr. Houghton stated the board needs to be more 



4  

139 

140 

141 
142 
143 
144 
145 
146 

147 
148 
149 
150 
151 

152 

153 

154 
155 
156 
157 
158 

159 
160 

161 
162 
163 

164 
165 

166 
167 

168 
169 
170 

171 
172 

173 
174 
175 
176 
177 

178 

179 
180 
181 
182 
183 
184 
185 

disciplined and information needs to be received in a timely fashion in order to give the 

members time to give full attention and evaluation to an application. Mr. Houghton stated the 

board needs to adhere to the standards and requirements.  Mr. Baskerville stated the planning 

board should not accept any more two week extensions.  Mr. Houghton stated if the applicant 

hasn’t provided the proper paperwork in a timely manner for it to be reviewed, the planning 

board can continue the application.   Mr. Canada stated the planning board needs to become 

more disciplined with granting waivers and hearing applications without the proper time to 

review.  Mr. Houghton stated, in order for the planning board to come in and make good use of 

theirs and the applicant’s time it is only appropriate they have the information submitted in a 

timely manner in order to be reviewed.  Mr. Houghton asked Mr. Austin to send the Planning 

Board a summary of applications, when submitted, which states whether it meets the criteria so 

the planning board has detailed information relative to regulations.  Mr. House stated this will 

also help to expedite the review process.  Mr. Houghton would like this to become the standard 

and continuing an application will be based on what the planning board deems appropriate time 

for reviews.  Mr. Baskerville asked for an informal subcommittee with Mr. Austin and Mr. 

Houghton to put some criteria in place, and he will poll how other towns handle applications. 

Mr. Austin stated Site Plan Regulations, 4.2.1, Submission Period: 

 
a.   ”An  application  for  site  plan  approval  shall  be  submitted  to  the  Town  Office,  c/o 

Chairperson of the Planning Board, prior to 12-PM, at least twenty (20) days in advance of 

a regularly schedule Planning Board meeting. The application form and the supporting 

exhibits required are set forth in Section 4.2.2 of these Regulations; 

b.   In the case of continued application, all new information, including but not limited to plan 

revisions, special studies, waiver requests, and conditional use permit requests must be 

submitted to the Planning Department prior to 4-PM, at least ten (10) days in advance of the 

continued meeting date; 

c.   Applications submitted later than the deadline date in (a) above will not be placed on the 

following meeting’s agenda. New information in (b) above that is submitted later than ten 

days prior to the meeting date will not be considered by the Planning Board.  In the case of 

late submission of new information, the Board shall automatically continue the application 

to the next scheduled meeting date.” 

 
Mr. Austin stated he does not know how that would affect the 65 day clock, and whether this 

specifies business days or calendar days.  Mr. Canada asked if “10 days prior to the meeting 

would be November 3, 2017”.  Mr. House stated it would be 12 days, 10 business days plus 2 

weekend days.  Mr. Houghton asked that section 4.2.1 of Site Plan Regulation be copied and 

sent to Mr.  Ring to give warning that from this point forward the planning board will be 

enforcing these provisions.   Mr. Austin stated he would like to work on an amendment to 

4.2.1.b because 10 days is not enough time.  Discussion ensued regarding the turnaround time 

from the town engineer.  Mr. Houghton and Mr. Canada asked if there are levels of study and 

whether there is clarity and definition regarding expectations and/or a service agreement with 

the town engineer.  Mr. Austin stated Civilworks has a contract as the third party engineer.  Mr. 

Paine asked if we can request the engineer respond by the 13th  or 14th.  Mr. Houghton stated 

expectations for the third party engineer need to be defined, a commitment that the third party 

engineer will adhere to those requirements, and if they cannot meet those requirements an RFQ 

needs to go out to find people who can adhere to the requirements of the board.   Mr. Paine 

stated that planning board meetings are Wednesdays, and reviews should be submitted the 



5  

186 

187 

188 
189 
190 
191 
192 
193 

194 
195 
196 
197 
198 

199 

200 

201 
202 
203 
204 
205 

206 
207 

208 
209 
210 

211 
212 

213 
214 

215 
216 
217 

218 
219 

220 
221 
222 
223 
224 

225 

226 
227 
228 
229 
230 
231 
232 

Monday prior to the meeting date in order to be processed and received by the board for 

review.  Mr. Deschaine, Mr. Houghton, and Mr. Canada stated that communication between the 

engineer and Mr. Austin is important in order to find out if the workload can be accomplished 

on time.  Mr. Baskerville stated several towns require a TRC meeting that cannot be waived. 

Mr. Austin stated Subdivision Regulation 2.2 Preliminary Consultation: 

 
“An individual who anticipates submitting a formal application for a subdivision 

approval shall be required, to consult with the Planning Board prior to submission of 

the formal application and supporting documentation.  Any request for consultation 

shall be made at least 7 days prior to the meeting at which such consultation shall 

occur.  An application for a minor subdivision as set forth in Section 2.4 of these 

regulations shall not be required to submit under this section.” 

 
This is also required for site plan review and he would like a regulation in place for pre-formal 

submission prior to the formal application which states “you shall meet with staff to go over the 

application,  within  5  days  of  such  meeting  you  will  receive  a  list  of  deficiencies  to  be 

corrected”  so  by  the  time  it  is  before  the  planning  board  it  should  have  the  necessary 

information to move forward.  Mr. Austin stated it is in the regulations that the planning board 

shall schedule the public hearing. 

 
Mr. Austin stated the two public meeting items on the agenda are listed as a reminder.  Mr. 

Austin  explained  if  the  Sullivan subdivision  doesn’t  move  forward  at  the  November  15th 

meeting date, all efforts will be focused on finishing up the Telecommunications and 

Subdivision regulations for the board to review. 

 
Mr. Austin stated some questions have come forward regarding possible zoning changes that he 

would like to discuss with the board. 

 
The last zoning amendment saw the statute for Accessory Dwelling Units change to state a 

single family home that can provide water and sewer can have an accessory dwelling unit. 

The planning board defined “accessory dwelling unit” as an “accessory dwelling unit to a 

single family home”.  There has been discussion as to whether condominiums and cluster 

subdivisions could be precluded or not, and the planning board opted to strike a sentence 

but once town meetings were over the state corrected it to say “does not apply to condos”. 

Would the board like to add “use would not be permissible in condos, clusters, and other 

areas where open spaces are a function of density…”  Mr. Baskerville stated he looks at 

condos differently than cluster subdivisions, and looks at a single family as 1 dwelling on 1 

lot.  Mr. Paine asked for clarification, i.e. Rollins Farm is a home owner’s association of 

single family homes.  Mr. Austin stated Rollins Farm is not a cluster and each home could 

have  an  accessory  dwelling  unit.     Mr.  Paine  asked  if  the  association  piece  of  a 

condominium is equal to a homeowner’s association.  Mr. Austin explained the former 

“accessory dwelling unit” language stated “accessory apartments are not permitted within 

open space cluster subdivisions, condominiums, mobile home parks, etc.”  After town 

meetings were held, the state amended the statute to read “a town can restrict open space 

clusters, manufactured housing parks, etc.”  The board agreed to put prior language back in 

the zoning.  Mr. Austin asked the board if an accessory dwelling unit is allowed on a 

commercial property.  Mr. Austin explained an email was received which states a property 



6  

233 

234 

235 
236 
237 
238 
239 
240 

241 
242 
243 
244 
245 

246 

247 

248 
249 
250 
251 
252 

253 
254 

255 
256 
257 

258 
259 

260 
261 

262 
263 
264 

265 
266 

267 
268 
269 
270 
271 

272 

273 
274 
275 
276 
277 
278 
279 

owner in the Town Center District would like an accessory apartment and currently the 

Town Center District zoning regulations allow multi-family, 3-8 units, and permits an 

accessory apartment.   If an owner wanted to split some units to create more would they 

need to come before the planning board?  Mr. Baskerville and Mr. Houghton stated yes, the 

owner would need to come with a new application due to change of units. 

 
Last year modifications were made to the Gateway language, clarifying the TRC process. 

Those modifications were not concurrently made in the Town Center District, which still 

reads as the Gateway used to.   Mr. Austin asked the board if they would like him to go 

through a revision to modify.  Mr. Austin explained the difference in order for the board to 

understand what changes would need to be made.  Mr. Austin’s recommendation is to get 

the Town Center up to par with Gateway, as far as clarifying the role and responsibility of 

TRC.  Mr. Houghton asked if it is the same committee.  Mr. Austin explained TRC is the 

same whether it is Town Center or Gateway.  Mr. Austin stated staff suggestion is to make 

Town Center’s regulations, with regard to TRC, the same as Gateway since the TRC is 

performing the same role. Clarification regarding TRC’s role in approving applications was 

discussed.  Mr. Paine asked if the Town Center regulations would require a March vote. 

Mr. Austin stated it is a zoning amendment.  Mr. Deschaine explained 120 days prior to a 

town meeting, if an amendment is posted, the applicant is subject to that amendment. 

 
Mr. Austin requested the planning board consider revisions of the open space cluster 

subdivisions to allow parcels less than 20 acres.  Mr. Baskerville would like to look at this 

recommendation closer before anything is agreed to.  Mr. Austin stated the planning board 

needs to start considering it since the town is built out residentially, in terms of large 

subdivisions, but as presented at the last planning board meeting it was brought to the 

board’s attention that there are no more 20 acre pieces left.  Mr. Austin explained he can 

look at options.  One thing to consider would be to include the square premise, as well as a 

structural spacing requirement.  Mr. Austin is concerned that an 8 acre parcel could be 

developed with a 600-700 feet road and put two houses on it which would result in the net 

cost to the town and disproportionate.  Mr. Houghton would like residents to be able to 

understand and weigh in on the issue.  Mr. Paine would like to hold on the issue to see if 

traction takes hold of the Gateway, including water and sewer.  Mr. Deschaine asked the 

board what they would like out of it.  The current cluster ordinance was designed to have 

the best use of a 20+ acre parcel in terms of leaving the most open space but making it more 

economical to promote that type of development.  Whether those logics still apply to a 

smaller parcel is something the board needs to discuss.   Mr. Houghton stated the cluster 

regulations need to be looked at whether it is 10 or 20 acres.  Mr. Austin stated discussion 

needs to take place regarding how to move forward with what is left of buildable land in 

Stratham.  Mr. Baskerville would like to get through zoning and not put it on for the current 

meeting, but take the adequate amount of time to look at the ordinance, fully discuss it, and 

make changes during the next calendar year. 

 
Mr. Austin stated given the number of changes which may occur and the actual projects 

coming in, the board may want to continue to meet twice a month, but have public agenda 

items on one of those meetings and have a workshop on the alternate night.   A public 

hearing can be scheduled for the “workshop” meeting, but the default position will be for 

the planning board to hear the public on the first Wednesday of the month. 



7  

280 

281 

282 
283 
284 
285 
286 
287 

288 
289 
290 
291 
292 

293 

294 

295 
296 
297 
298 
299 

300 
301 

302 
303 
304 

305 
306 

307 
308 

309 
310 
311 

312 
313 

314 
315 
316 
317 
318 

319 

320 
321 

 

 

Mr. Deschaine stated the Heritage Commission has a request to eliminate the density bonus 

with regard to frontage lots to discourage demolition of existing structures.  Mr. Baskerville 

stated if Mr. Austin has a red-line version of the 6 required changes ready in 2-4 weeks, and 

the planning board can get it done in time, he is willing to go over it.  Otherwise, it will 

have to be on the planning board’s agenda for next calendar year.   Mr. Houghton asked 

what the calendar is for zoning amendments.   Mr. Austin stated he would send it to the 

board tomorrow, November 2, 2017.  Mr. Deschaine stated material needs to be delivered 

to the Town Clerk on February 6, 2018.  Mr. Canada stated that a special meeting could be 

scheduled to discuss these issues.  Mr. Austin stated Site Plan and Subdivision regulations 

will take a back seat until further notice, zoning items are priority.  Mr. Baskerville stated 

the last day to hold a final public hearing is February 5, 2018 and they must be delivered on 

February 5, 2018.  Mr. Houghton requested Mr. Austin point the board in the right direction 

in order accomplish the changes discussed.   Mr. House asked if the board met on a 

Wednesday not scheduled for planning board would that be considered a public meeting. 

Mr. Austin stated any time a quorum meets it is a meeting. 

 
Mr. Austin stated 58 Portsmouth Avenue, Audi of Stratham, needs a bond in order for a 

building permit to be issued with regard to the latest planning board approval.  Mr. Austin 

handed the board a copy and explained that the draft is wrong and the planning board 

should only be concerned with the numbers listed.  Mr. Austin stated there is a landscape 

bond amount for $30,385.00 and a construction, storm drains, silt fence, backfill, sidewalk, 

etc. for $138,600.00 total, including the 10% of $185,883.50.  Mr. Baskerville stated if staff 

is comfortable with that number the board can ask for a motion.  Mr. Austin stated staff 

would request the ability to modify that number up if something else comes about and to be 

included in the motion.  Mr. Austin requested something specific to a bonding submission 

date, i.e. not the morning of the planning board meeting where the applicant is hoping to get 

a hold of things.  Mr. Baskerville stated that staff is more knowledgeable than the planning 

board regarding these requests, that having the board formulate a motion is extraordinarily 

difficult and it may not be what staff is looking to have approved. 

 
Mr. Paine made a motion to accept the bonding amount for 58 Portsmouth Avenue, Audi of 

Stratham, at $185,883.50, as submitted with regard to landscaping estimate and cost, and 

the construction estimated elements and costs, as presented by the applicant and reviewed 

and modified by staff, unless an increased amount is warranted upon further review, prior to 

presentation to the Board of Selectmen for acceptance.  Mr. House seconded the motion. 

Motion carried unanimously. 

 
5.  Adjournment. 

 
Mr.  Paine made a motion to adjourn the meeting at 8:47 pm.  Mr. House seconded the 

motion.  Motion carried unanimously. 


